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1. OVERVIEW OF AGENCY

1.1 Executive Summary

The importance of the Quadriplegic Centre is demonstrated daily through
comprehensive support of its target patient and client population. Quadriplegic
Centre patients are highly dependent individuals with quadriplegia, often with co-
morbidity, and where they:

¢ Require sub-acute or ventilator dependent care that would fraditionally be
provided at the State Spinal Unit;

o Require post injury rehabilitation and are awaiting funding for independent living
in the community;

= Are unable to live independently in the community due to the extent of medical,
nursing and personal care requirements or

¢ Require respite to meet medical requirements, provide relief for family or carer
and to facilitate continuity of independent living goals.

The Centre has maintained a model of care that supports patients from sub-acute to
long term rehabilitation and additionally, has a strong focus on support of community
clients, through the provision of community outreach support and respite care,

The Quadriplegic Centre maintains strong links with the State’s Spinal Unit. The
Centre’s capacity to provide transitional care from the tertiary acute service
continues to ensure the most effective use of tertiary beds in this patient sector.

The Centre has maintained an important capacity to provide for the ongoing
management of major pressure ulcers, a major clinical management issue for
quadriplegic patients. The Centre accepts admissions, both prior to surgery and post
operatively, with eventual discharge to the community.

In conjunction with the State Spinal Unit, the sub-acute spinal injury program
promotes patient flow from tertiary acute to sub-acute care, effectively reducing
patient’s length of stay in the tertiary setting, this lowers the overall cost to the health
system and reduces bed block, without impairing the quality of care.

The importance of the Quadriplegic Centre through the provision of support to
ventilator dependent patients continues to identify the essential nature of this
Hospital.

The Centre’s continuing commitment to fong ferm rehabilitation for highly dependent
patients remains essential. It is the high level of care required in long term
rehabilitation which prevents patients from living independently and in the context of
this service, emphasises the need for task efficient accommodation and support
services.

The Quadriplegic Centre importantly maintains and supports the goal of community
living for all spinal injured persons. Hospital services are directed to this outcome,
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whilst for spinal injured clients already living in the community, the Hospital provides
an effective community outreach and support service. The Spinal InjuryLiaison
Service offers primary care and as will be seen later in this report and through early
intervention strategies, the Centre facilitates early treatment of client injury or health
condition in the home, where in other circumstances, these conditions would present
demand for tertiary and sub-acute in-patient services. The prevention of
inappropriate admission through support of the community spinal cord injured
population is a major achievement of the Quadriplegic Centre.

The Centre maintains links with a wide range of services and facilities to ensure a
comprehensive response to the needs of the spinal paralysed community.

The multiple responsibilities of the Quadriplegic Centre places enormous emphasis
on the Centre’'s physical resources. As commented in previous reports, the
Quadriplegic Centre’s accommodation assets have now passed the end of their
effective economic life and in some respects, safe use. The refurbishment and
selective replacement of Quadriplegic Centre accommodation remains the single
most critical objective of the Board of Management. The Board and the Centre’s staff
continue to work closely with the Department of Health, Western Australia on the
Business Case and plans necessary fo support and fund the case for re-
development and replacement.

This year work was completed on connecting the Quadriplegic Centre to the Health
Information Network. The Quadriplegic Centre is one of the first hospitals to use
Webpas for patient management.

The Centre maintains a significant commitment to staff development. This not only
advantages the Centre and its various clientele, it has a flow-on effect into the Health
sector generally.

The Centre is committed to quality systems and best practice. In confirmation of
these objectives, the Centre continues to submit itself to regular, successful external
audit to monitor the comprehensive attainment of these goals.

Further, the Quadriplegic Centre maintains a record of sound financial management
and demonstrates effective financial control and budget discipline.

The Board would like to acknowledge the contribution of board member Mr John Thornton
who passed away during the year. The Board would also like to thank Mr Bob Dunn who
retired from the Board this year for his support of the Centre and his efforts in the role of
Chairperson over a number of years.




1.2 Operational Structure

Legal Name: Quadriplegic Centre Board of Management
Postal Address: Quadriplegic Centre
PO Box 257

SUBIACO WA 6904

Street Address: 10 Selby Street,
SHENTON PARK WA 6008

Telephone Number: (08)9381 0144

Facsimile Number: (08) 9381 5097

1.2.1 Enabling Legisiation

The Quadriplegic Centre Board of Management is incorporated under the Hospitals
and Health Services Act (1927), which provides for the establishment, maintenance
and management of Public Hospitals and for incidental and other purposes.

The Quadriplegic Centre is managed and controlled by a Board of Management
constituted under Section 15 of the Hospitals and Health Services Act (1927).

The Board of Management, as the Accountable Authority for the Statutory Authority,
is responsible to the Minister for Health, Hon. Kim Hames, MB BS JP, MLA, for the
general administration of the Health Service.




1.2.2 Quality Policy Statement

The Mission of the Quadriplegic Centre is to be a Centre of excellence in the
provision of spinal injury management, care and rehabilitation, through the
development and implementation of services that reflect best practice and innovation
in responding to the needs of patients with high spinal cord injury.

The Centre seeks to provide a full range of medical, nursing, allied health,
psychology and recreation services to meet the clinical needs of patients. Services
are to be supported by evidence based policy and procedural guidelines.

The Centre will demonstrate its commitment {o excellence in service development
and delivery through a process of continuous improvement and will subject services
to ongoing external audits to achieve and maintain accredited Quality Endorsed
Organisation status.

The Centre will respect the views of clients, patients and relevant professional
groups and adhere to principles of social justice, particularly ensuring equity in
access to services.

This Policy Statement is authorized by:

——
S.M."Yensch
Acting Executive Director

Date: 9 September 2013




1.2.3 Directions Statement
VISION

The Quadriplegic Centre's vision is the creation of a Centre of Excellence in the
provision of spinal cord injury management, care and rehabilitation in Western
Australia.

MISSION

The mission of the Quadriplegic Centre is to provide a Centre of best practice in the
provision of spinal cord injury rehabilitation that is both innovative and responsive in
the services it provides for the community.

LEADERSHIP IN SERVICE

The Quadriplegic Centre demonstrates leadership by:

s The provision of evidence based clinical services;

e  Achieving excellence in education and training,

° Providing consultancy, network development and support to the acute care
sector, community care providers and patients;

) tnvolvement in clinical research.

PRINCIPLES
Quality Care

The Quadriplegic Centre is committed fo the achievement of excellence in service
development and delivery and as such exposes its services to external auditing to
maintain the hospital's quality endorsed and accredited status. This programme
underpins a process of continuous improvement in the provision of patient care and
services to the community in spinal injury rehabilitation.

Continuity of Care

The Quadriplegic Centre supports co-ordination and integration of service delivery by
working in partnership with acute care services, community care providers and
patients.

Accountability

The Quadriplegic Centre uses its resources efficiently through quality management
practices and ensures services are monitored and evaluated.

Equity and Access

The Quadriplegic Centre respects the interest and views of patients and professional
groups, and adheres to the principles of social justice in response to client and
patient needs.
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1.3 MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

1.3.1 Accountable Authority

CHAIRPERSON  Professor S.J. Edmondston, Dip Physio, Adv Dip Physio, PhD

MEMBERS Professor S. A. Dunlop, BSc (Hons), PhD
Ms S. Chew
Mr G. Currie
Ms M. Karniewicz
Ms J. Morris
Ms M. H. Kuhne BA

Mr. P.R. Woodland, MBBS (WA), FRACS, FAOrth.A.

Board Members are appointed by the Governor in Executive Council. The term of
appointment for each member of the Board commenced on 01/01/2012 and expires

on 31/12/2013.
1.3.2 Table One:
Senior Officers
Aeaot | THe | Name | gaegr
Responsibility : ' Appointment
Corporate Management Executive Director | Mr P.N.M. Glass AM | Permanent

Nursing Services Director of Nursing Mr. C Baldwin Until 02/11/2012
Ms C. Jones Until 14/06/2013
Mrs. L. Emerson Permanent

Medical Services General Practitioner | Dr W. Quarles . Permanent

Financial Services Chief Finance Officer | Mr S. Yensch Permanent
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1.3.3

Table Two:

Organisational Structure

MINISTER FOR HEALTH
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
MEDICAL SERVICES CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
SECRETARIAT DIRECTOR OF NURSING ADMINISTRATIVE
SERVICES
Secretarial Support e Admin Support
Medfcai Records AP RAASSARARNURAEERRREBRENAS . Accounts
Patient Admissions & + Reception
Discharges Documentation « Banking
Patient Database « Maintenance
Management + Contract Management
ALLIED NURSING SERVICES SPINAL INJURY HOTEL SERVICES
HEALTH - - LIAISON : :
- SERVICES » Nursing Admin - SERVICE » Catering Service
I = Human Resources - » Cleaning Service
* Occupational » Clinical Consultancy | | * Hospital &
Therapy » Staff Development Community
« Physiotherapy + Education & Liaison
« Pharmacy Research * Home Visiting
Service » Infection Control Nursing
e Psychology » Clinical/Registered Service
Service & Enrolled Nursing, » Outreach
» Social & Assistants in Support
Welfare Nul-sing
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1.4 SERVICES PROVIDED

1.4.1 Functions and Services
Direct Patient Services Allied Health Services
Medical Services Physiotherapy
Nursing Services Occupational Therapy
Recreation Services (SLF sponsored) Pharmacy
Patient Advocacy Service Psychology Service
Other Support Services Community Support Services
Corporate Services Spinal Injury Liaison Service
Maintenance Community Nursing and Qutreach
Hotel Services Support

Financial Services
Medical Records

Supply

1.5 Performance Management Framework

The Quadriplegic Centre is funded through the Heaith Department of WA. The
Centre accepts appropriate fransfers of spinal injured patients from WA hospitals.
The Centre’s Spinal Injury Liaison Service receives partial funding from the Home
and Community Care Program (HACC) to assist in providing support to clients living
in the community, to maintain their independence.

1.6 Overview of the Centre

The Quadriplegic Centre is administered by a Board of Management incorporated
under the Hospital and Health Services Act 1827. The Centre provides medical,
nursing, allied health, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, patient advocacy and
psychology services. A co-located recreational facility complements the clinical
services. Community clients receive support and clinical liaison services provided by
the Centre’s Spinal Injury Liaison Service.

Admissions to the Quadriplegic Centre may be through self referral direct from the
community, referral from another health service or by the community liaison team.
The Centre’s Admission and Discharge Committee consider all requests for
admission. The treating Doctor must complete a medical report prior to
consideration for admission. Following the Committee’s review, the outcome is
formally advised to the applicant. Hospital services provided by the Quadriplegic
Centre are not an alternative to community accommodation services in demand
within the spinal injury community.
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2. AGENCY PERFORMANCE

2.1 Admissions

Forty three persons meeting the admission criteria were admitted and received
ongoing rehabilitation and health care support in the Quadriplegic Centre in
2012/2013. Of the forty three requests for admission, all met the admission criteria.
Over 2012/2013, forty nine patients were successfully discharged to the community
and nine patients died.

Table Three
Patient Movements
2012113 201112 2010111 | 2009/10

N of Ao " d 70 __65 e ”
| Applications Received

Number of Applications -

Approved 43 69 66 33
. Number of Applicants not 0 1 : 2 4
| meeting the Admission Criteria '
| Number of Discharges to the 49 71 52 34
- Community
- Number of Deceased Patients 9 8 8 2

Total occupied bed days provided by the Centre were 22,994 for 2012/13. This is
similar to the 24,167 bed days provided in 2011/2012.

Table Four
Bed Occupancy

- Year __ ~ Bed Occupancy

| " (total occupied bed days)
2012/2013 ' 22,994
2011/2012 - 24,167
2010/2011 24,613
2009/2010 25,634
2008/2009 29,818
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2.2 Role and Function

The Quadriplegic Centre’s primary role is the provision of Health care and outreach
services to people with permanent high Spinal Cord injury often with co-morbidities.
It should be noted this level of injury is both life threatening and life changing. It has
a major impact on both the individual and the patient’'s extended family.

The Centre’s role is to maximize post injury independence through the provision of
appropriate clinical services delivered by the multi disciplinary team of health
professionals employed at the Centre.

Continuous clinical review of patient individual care plans, treatment regimes and
other therapeutic programs form part of the patient’s overall clinical management.
Changes to care plans are made by the clinical team in response to assessed
current needs and in consultation with the patient and family as required.

Should individual needs substantially change, so as to either not require or to exceed
the capacity of the Centre’s services, a formal review process is initiated. The clinical
team will review all options and in discussion with the patient and where necessary,
facititate transfer or admission to the appropriate health facility. Where this situation
presents as an emergency, immediate transfer will be arranged and the family or
next of kin informed.

2.3 Sub-acute Spinal injury Program (SASIP)

An emphasis on the sub-acute role of the Centre facilitates early discharge from
acute care, and provides for the clinical management and continued post acute
rehabilitation of patients.

The Centre has expanded its capacity to admit persons with major pressure ulcers
for their ongoing management, both prior to surgery and post operatively, with
subsequent discharge back to the community. The Centre’s capacity, effectively
utilized, reduces the demand on acute beds located in tertiary facilities

It should be noted that pressure ulcers are a major clinical management issue for
patients who are quadriplegic, with a corresponding demand on acute care
resources (bed days).In response to the incidence of pressure ulcers the Centre has
developed specialist expertise in their management with a high level of success
allowing patients to return to the community in the shortest possible time.

1,490 days were provided for SASIP care during 2012/2013.
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2.4 Transitional Care Service (up to 12 months)

The Quadriplegic Centre provides a specialist resource for transitional care of
quadriplegic patients who are stable and do not require tertiary level care. These
patients require continuing rehabilitation support and are often awaiting the outcome
of funding appfications for accommodation, care packages and home modifications.
The average length of stay is 12 months but may be longer, during which patients
continue to be provided with post acute rehabilitation options.

The service also provides for the admission of eligible clients experiencing
secondary medical sequalae, thereby enabling them to receive intensive medical
and nursing care.

Whilst at the Centre the focus of services is to enhance the patient capacity to
engage with the community by providing reintegration programs focused on the
individual needs of the person.

The Spinal injury Liaison Service provides valuable support through this time and
following discharge from the Cenfre.

6203 days were provided for transitional care during 2012/2013.

2.5 Extended Rehabilitation

The Quadriplegic Centre provides ongoing care for high level quadriplegic patients
whose general medical sequalae precludes independent living in the community.
Applicants may typically present with multiple co-morbidities in addition to paralysis,
requiring ongoing access to the Centre’s medical, nursing and allied health services.

Extended rehabilitation patients require levels of care that are not available within the
community. The life span of persons with high spinal cord injuries has increased
with advances in medical management.

Given this increase in life span of persons with quadriplegia, the associated increase
in co-morbidities and range of additional health issues poses ongoing challenges to
health planners. The demand on services of this high care population will impact
upon the acute care sector and the Quadriplegic Centre’s ability to provide this level
of care.

14,594 days were provided for extended rehabilitation in 2012/2013.
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2.6 Respite Service (up to 28 days)

The Quadriplegic Centre provides an essential source to support patients and their
families from around the State. Respile services give clients and their families
options of care for up to 4 weeks whilst families rest or recuperate as clients access
medical review, treatment and support. Patients of this service often present with
concurrent medical conditions including urological and bowel issues and/or pressure
ufcers, all requiring urgent interventions which can be provided during their stay at
the centre.

706 days were provided for respite care during 2012/2013

2.7 Ventilator Dependent Quadriplegic Community Care Program

The Quadriplegic Centre manages patients with high spinal cord injury requiring
mechanical ventilation to maintain breathing. This service is in its sixth year of
operation (commenced in 2007). At the present time we have three patients in the
program. The focus of the program is to provide best practice in managing the
ventilated patient.

Funding for this purpose is currently available to the Quadriplegic Centre under the
Ventilator Dependent Quadriplegic Community Care Program (VDQCCP) through
Royal Perth Hospital. Care provided under this agreement reduces the burden on
acute care services to provide long term management of this patient population with
a significant reduction in the otherwise high tertiary bed day costs.

The Centre is also able to provide respite care options for fully ventilated clients who
live in the community, further preventing the need for these clients to access high
cost acute care services.

Where possible patients of this service will be returned to the community with
ongoing support from the VDQCCP program and the Quadriplegic Centre and Spinal
Injury liaison Service as appropriate.

To maintain and support the Centre’s Ventilator Program, comprehensive training is
provided ensuring the maintenance of clinical competence of existing and new staff.
This service demands a substantial response from the centre in provision of this
specialist service.
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Table Five
Ventilator Program

Ventilator Competent Staff
. L _- 2013 - .. 2012

Clinical Management 3 3
Clinical Nurses 4 5
Registered Nurses 10 9
Enrolled Nurses 13 13
Assistants in Nursing 31 35
CASUAL STAFF

Registered Nurses 5 6
Enrolled Nurses 4 - 4
Assistants in Nursing 10 9

2.8 Spinal injury Liaison Service (SILS)

The Spinatl Injury Liaison Service (SILS) provides a permanent community, nursing
and liaison service dedicated to support and maintain community living and the goals
of the spinal injured person. In addition to metropolitan clients, country clients are
supported during the year by SILS nurses from the Service, with visits extending
north to Geraldton, east to Kalgoorlie and south to Albany and Esperance. Clients in
these areas request visits from SILS to advise on clinical and care issues. Local
services in regional areas also meet with Service staff to discuss aspects of client
management and current clinical issues. The service title will be changed in 2013 to
better reflect the service offer: it will be known as the Quadriplegic Centre
Community Nursing Service. The Service currently has four hundred and ninety
(490) active clients on its database.

This financial year the Spinal Injury Liaison Service has responded to service
requests from 1994 community clients. This resuited in 3326 occasions of service.

There were 1010 contacts with associated services. This has included liaison with
organizations such as Silver Chain, Department of Veterans Affairs, Disability
Services Commission and Continence Advisory services.

Over the year eighty four new pressure sores/burns were identified and treated. Of
these, ninety five per cent were treated successfully in the client's home by the
Service. Only four required admission to hospital (see attached Table Six). The
successful treatment of these conditions in the home reduces both the incidence and
cost associated with acute tertiary admissions and ensuring clients, as far as
practicable, are able to maintain independent community living options.
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Table Six: Spinal Injury Liaison Service — Total Services 2012/13

| Total Services Spinal injury Liaison Service =~ | 2012/13 .
Total Number of Clients 490
Total Occasions of Service
3326
Total Requests for Service
1994
New Pressure Areas identified
88
New Pressure Areas Successfully Treated
84
Hospital Admissions Pressure Ulcers
4
Distance Travelled (Kms)
51724

2.9 Psychology Service

The impact of high spinal cord trauma has a devastating effect on the individual (and
their families) that stays with them for the rest of their lives.

There has been a significant change in the demographic of residents at the
Quadriplegic Centre over the past two years.

The potential for stress, frustration, depression and anxiety is significant amongst all
parties involved, patients, family and staff included. More difficult periods of stress
have been managed successfully and worked through with patients and staff to
maintain a positive and safe environment for all.

We continue to have a large number of young male patients at the Centre, this has
been steadily increasing over the past few years and is due to a number of factors;
lack of suitable housing, lack of funding for support in community living and long delays
in compensation settlement. The frustrations and hopelessness felt by many of these
young men at times requires a lot of psychological support and counseling. The
Centre's psychologist with the support of other health professionais within the Centre,
work to meet this need.

At the end of 2012 the resident psychologist attended a 5 day conference in London
led by psychologist Dr Christine Padesky, a world leader in the treatment of anxiety.
Knowledge gained has been particularly helpful in the treatment and counseling of the
younger male patients.

Support and education of staff is an integral part of the psychologist role at the
Quadriplegic Centre.
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2.10 Physiotherapy Service

Physiotherapy services play an essential role in the Clinical Services in maintaining
and improving the patient’s capacity for independence in functions of daily living.

Patients following high spinal cord injury display reduced respiratory function and
some may require mechanical ventitation. injuries at each of the cervical leveis all
display reduced respiratory function, requiring extensive input from the
physiotherapy staff.

Programs are conducted in conjunction with the Occupational Therapy department o
enhance individual patient outcomes.

All patients are encouraged to attend the physiotherapy department for both acute
and ongoing treatment, rehabilitation and gym programs. Patients confined to bed
receive therapy at the bedside as required.

Physiotherapists have continued to provide important induction training for ali staff.
Training includes back care education, manual handling principles and
demonstration of individual patient handling techniques and fransfers.

The Physiotherapy Department also provides ongoing manual handling workshops
for nursing staff with a strong emphasis on correct handling techniques and risk
management skills. The workshops specifically address issues regarding handling of
heavy, highly dependent or challenging patients.

In 2013, Physiotherapists commenced “Quad Cough” workshops for all members of
nursing staff to improve staff skills and competency. Attendant care training for
carers of clients living in the community has continued.

Risk assessment and risk management practices related to each patient are subject
to individual assessment and regular review. Training for carers of spinal paralysed
clients in the community is an ongoing service.

The Physiotherapy department provides clinical placements for second year and

Graduate Entry Masters physiotherapy students from Curtin University and Nofre
Dame University.
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2.11 Occupational Therapy Service

The Occupational Therapy Department at the Quadriplegic Centre endeavors to
assist individuals to achieve the highest possible levels of independence and work
collaboratively with individuals and their families. All interventions are centered on
providing assistance and support so patients can work towards achieving their goals.

The Occupational Therapy Department is a well-equipped clinic/workshop. The
department manufactures assistive devices and equipment that is not commercially
available and each item is specifically designed and made to suit the unique needs
of the individual. Although the premise may be the same, each device needs to be
adapted to meet the individual's specific needs.

The service continues the rehabilitation process of patients admitted from the Spinal

Unit to increase their level of independence and assist in their transition back into the
community. Assistance is also provided where possible in the discharge of long term
Quadriplegic Centre patients. Respite patients have access to Occupational Therapy
services, and often return to the community with an increased ievel of independence.

The Occupational Therapists assist patients in the acquisition of equipment through
various schemes, including the Community Aids and Equipment Program, Better Life
Foundation, McKellar-Hall Trust, Equipment for Living Grant through Lotteries
Commission. This equipment may include items, such as, pressure relief items,
specialized garments, commodes, wheelchairs, environmental control systems,
electrically adjustable beds or vehicle modifications.

Not only is assistance provided with independence in activities of daily living, but
also promote independence in the pursuit of leisure interests and education.
Another area of focus is communication, providing or adapting equipment such as
voice amplification devices, communication systems, mobile phones/telephones, call
bell systems and computers.

The Occupational Therapy Department accepts 1-2 Curtin University final year
students each year. These students do a continuous 7 week practicum at the
Quadriplegic Centre.

in addition to the above, the Occupational Therapy Department provides information
and resources to patients, families and staff. The Quadriplegic Centre Occupational
Therapy Department has developed a reputation for excellence in the rehabilitation
of spinal cord injuries with staff from facilities both mefropolitan and regional seeking
advice.
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2.12 Resident Advocacy Service

The role of the Resident Service Officer (RSO} is to support patient needs. The RSO
orientates all new patients to the Centre ensuring a smocth transition and
information regarding the Centre’s services and facilities. The RSO provides support
to patient meetings and follows up on any concerns or issues patients may have.

The advent of Advance Health Directives has seen the RSO providing support to
complete documentation for patient and family members. Applications for funding
support are also initiated by the RSO for assistance with accommodation services,
pension issues, CAP funding and with preparation for the movefreturn to the
community.

This service operates on a part-time basis from Monday-Friday and responds to
requests from patients, their families, friends and members of the public who enquire
about respite accommodation.

2.13 Infection Control

Persons with high level spinal cord injury have a significant increased risk of infection
of the urinary tract, respiratory system, gastrointestinal tract and skin. They are at a
greater risk of developing infections with resistant organisms, including methicillin
resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)} and multi resistant gram-negative bacilli.
Adherence to infection control policies and procedures is vitally important.

The Quadriplegic Centre has in place an effective infection Prevention and Control
Programme which is developed in line with current evidence based best practice,
legislation and Department of Health Guidelines and standards. Through the
implementation of these policies and procedures and evidence based best practice
the Quadriplegic Centre aims to ensure the protection, and minimise infection risks
of both patients and staff from acquisition of infections.

This is achieved through policy development and review, isolating or cohabiting
patients with the same organisms of MRSA, surveillance of hospital-acquired
infections, outbreak management, ongoing programmes of education starting at
orientation, environmental and hand hygiene audits, the use of personal protective
equipment, and promotion of hand hygiene and other infection control policies
Cleaning and hotel services are included in education and appropriate cleaning
methods and products are used to maintain infection control standards.

During 2012 - 2013 no major cross infections outbreaks occurred. Also all patients
and staff are offered influenza vaccinations. No outbreaks of the flu of any strain
have been identified within our patient and staff population.

The Centre is equipped to respond to any potentially lethal virus with extensive
pandemic plans developed that are ready to be implemented when needed.
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2.14 Research

The Quadripiegic Centre has participated in wound management research using
OPAL cream for the treatment of pressure ulcers. The trial demonstrated the benefits
of OPAL in wound management at the Quadriplegic Centre.

The work in this area of wound management has seen many patients with long
standing pressure ulcers achieve healing. The Centre works in cooperation with
Spinal Plastic Surgeons on wound bed preparation and post operative management
of wounds.

The Centre continues to use Opal 01 filtrate and cream with success on suitable
patients at the Quadriplegic Centre. The focus continues to be best practice
interventions and the Centre’s extensive experience in wound management
maintains the exemplary results. During 2011/2012 the Centre had 2 papers
accepted for publication in “Wound Practice and Research”™: Journail of the Australian
Wound Management Association, Vol 19(4), December (2011).

2.15 Staff Development

The Centre has built a reputation on best practice principals based on the provision
of education and training for all staff. Topics have been identified in part through a
Staff Training Needs Assessment, the performance appraisal system, legislative
changes and best practice principles.

The Centre ensures that all employees are provided with specific education relating
to the care of spinal cord injured persons as well as contemporary clinical practice
and issues.

All new Assistants in Nursing are required to undertake nationally recognised
courses of training after their probationary period is completed, relevant fo
reguirements.

Annual mandatory training for all employees provides opportunities to further
develop knowledge and skills ensuring that all staff work safely and provide care
according to patient needs and within the staff member's level of competence.
Assistants in Nursing are provided with additional opportunities to develop their skills
through a Spinal Cord Injury Program.

In 2013 nine Assistants in Nursing graduated with a Certificate lI/IV (Disability Work)
studies. All catering staff have completed Food Safe Training and two staff members
graduated with a Certificate lll in Hospitality in 2013

Expressions of interest are being sought from appropriate staff to undertake
certificate ili/iV (Disability Work) or Certificate Ill Hospitality for 2013/14.
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2.16 Equipment Upgrading

During the year the Centre undertook all prescribed preventative maintenance
including fire protection equipment, paging systems including a duress response
system, and patient care equipment.

Purchase of over bed tables, visitor chairs and pressure relieving mattresses
throughout our Sub Acute Ward has occurred throughout 2012/13.

Air conditioning was installed in the ventilator unit and a custom built storage area for
medical supplies.

Extensive planting of garden areas and trimming of aging trees occurred throughout
autumn to improve the overall appearance and ambience of the Centre.

2013 has seen the Centre become one of the first hospitais in the state to “go live”
with the statewide footprint system for patient management. WebPass was
successfully implemented in May 2013 and provides live data in regard to patient
demographics and bed state. The next stage in this upgrade will be the
implementation of clinical systems to allow electronic access to pathology and
radiology results in a timely manner.

2013 saw the implementation of electronic purchasing via the | Procurement system
for all medical consumables and pharmaceuticals.

2.17 Quality Assurance

The Quadriplegic Centre is committed to providing quality services to patients with high
spinal cord injury and paralysis. This is demonstrated by the Centre’s commitment to a
Bi Annual six monthly compliance audits in order to retain the Centre’s Certificate of

Registration under 1SO: 9001-2008.

e A strong quality culture, supported by a robust quality management system, exists
in which any patient, staff member or visitor to the Centre may participate in
quality improvement by completing a Continuous Improvement Report (C.1.R).

¢ All quality documentation, including all policies, procedures and associated forms
are revised and re-issued as part of the ongoing internal audit process and
consultative processes.

e The Internal Audit Schedule is a critical component of the program and covers all
areas and functions of the Centre. Internal audits provide further information that
assists in identifying areas that may need follow up as part of a “responsive” audit
to ensure compliance and standards are being maintained.

e The complaint resolution and management process is operating well and
complaints are managed in line with the W A, Health Department policies.

¢ With the development of a designated computer system, staff can now readily
access the Centre’s policy and procedures in a read-only format.
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2.18 Risk Management

Strategic risk management is an integral part of management practice within the
Centre, identifying and managing risks likely to impact on the organisation’s ability to
achieve its mission and objectives.

State wide planning is in place to implement a risk management plan that provides a
global view of risk at all levels. The Centre’s plans build on current risk management
strategies and include such risks as the Pandemic “Flu Management Plan and the
responses to the H1N1 virus (Swine Fiu).

A comprehensive risk management reassessment of all patients in relation to
manual handling continues throughout 2012/13. Qutcomes of reassessment are
communicated to staff through training, workshops and comprehensive investigation
of all manual handling incidents/accidents/near misses and hazard identification.

All chemicals used throughout the Centre are recorded in the Chemical Register and
are supported by Material Safety Data Sheets. Chemical training is mandatory for
relevant staff and internal chemical safety audits are conducted regularly through the
Centre’'s internal auditing program and via workplace inspections.

Following a comprehensive training and education program to better identify and
manage violence and aggression in the workplace continues emphasis continues on
the prevention- of such behaviors through risk assessment and management of
identified patients and ongoing education, management support, policy and
procedural guidelines to prevent intervene and manage violence and aggression
within the Quadriplegic Centre.

Manual handling continues to be a focus for the centre throughout 2012/13 with an
aim to reduce the number of workplace manual handling accidents.

2.19 Facility Upgrading Progress

As noted in successive reports, the Quadriplegic Centre’s accommodation assets
have given good service for over 40 years. Notwithstanding this, the Quadriplegic
Centre was originally built for a very different role and patient group, now imposing
significant limitations on Centre operations today. Further, the Centre's
accommodation assets have long reached the end of their effective economic life
and in some respects, safe use.
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Both due to ageing, architectural limitation and consequent clinical restraint, the
effective bed capacity at the Quadriplegic Cenfre has been significantly reduced.
Murchison Wing continues to remain unopened since the closure in 2012.

The Board has established, in conjunction with the Department of Health, a clear
case for redevelopment and refurbishment with the objective of providing
contemporary hospital accommodation to meet the specific needs of this patient
cohort, essential for the next and extended life of this critical health care facility.

Expert clinical and role assessment, consistent with State Health and Rehabilitation
Plans has occurred confirming the continuing need and bed capacity for a
refurbished/redeveloped facility.

The essential requirement for the Quadriplegic Centre as an integral part of the State
Health response has been acknowledged by the Heaith Department and Minister.
Currently, the Business Case is being further refined. The task of funding the
proposal remains in competition with all Health and State priorities.

3. SIGNIFICANT TRENDS & ISSUES

3.1 Spinal Cord Injury Facts [Australian}

The number and rate of new cases of persisting Spinal Cord Injury (SCl) due to
traumatic causes in the Australian population has changed very little. Overall, a total
of three hundred and sixty two (362) new cases of SCI due to trauma were reported
in 2007-08. [Latest national reported data reviewed 2010).

The highest case count and age-specific rate occurred in the age group 15-24 years.
Male rates of persisting SC! from traumatic causes were higher than female rates at

all ages”.
e More than 10,000 people are living with spinal cord injury in Australia.?
¢ One person a day suffers a spinal cord injury in Australia.?
o With improved emergency management, medical care and rehabilitation, life
expectancy after spinal cord injury has improved, leading to increasing

prevalence in the future.®

e The total cost of spinal injury in Australia is estimated to be $2 billion
annually.?

! Spinal Cord Injury, Australia 2007-08, Lynda Norton, Metbourne: Flinders University{reviewed 2010

Lynda Norton]
2 The economic cost of spinal cord injury and traumatic brain injury in Australia. Access Economics,

2009
3 Spinal Cord Injury Network Australia New Zealand
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Residents of Western Australia had a three-year annual average incidence rate of
persisting SCI that was significantly higher than the national incident rate (25.1 cases
per million population versus 15.1 cases per million population)’.

4, DISCLOSURES & LEGAL COMPLIANCE
4.1 Financial Statements

See the end of this report for all financial declarations and disclosures.

4.2 Other Financial Disclosures

See the end of this report for all financial declarations and disclosures.

4.3 Human Resources
4.3.1 Employee Profile
Table Seven
Average Full Time Equivalents (FTE’s)
by employee category
Category -~ | 2012- | 2011- | 2010- [2009- |
S| -2013 0 20120 12011012010 | 2000
| Average | Average | Average |Average | Avera
3 1 Fe | FIE | FTE. |FIE
Administration 2 2 2 2 2
Nursing 78.25 90.4 85.6 77 82
Allied Health 6.55 6.85 6.85 6.52 6214
Hotel Services 20.82 20.82 20.825 18.5 20
Maintenance 1 1 1 1 3
Medical 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 84
(Sessional)
Spinal Nursing 2 2 2 2 2
Liaison Service
Total FTE 111.02 | 123.47 118.67 107.42 413.6%
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Overall patient numbers have been slightly reduced on last year; however the
nursing component of the Centre’'s employee profile has decreased. This is due to
the discharge home of a ventilator dependant patient who required ono-on-one care
on a continual basis. The high level of nursing care required to nurse the current
three ventiloator dependent patients continues to have a substantial impact on the
Centre’s nursing FTE component.

4.4 Industrial Relations

The Quadriplegic Centre manages industrial relations issues in accordance with the
conditions contained in relevant Industrial Awards, Agreements and industry best
practice. The Centre regularly consults with relevant agencies regarding conditions and
awards for employees.

4.5 Occupational Safety and Health

The Quadriplegic Centre remains one of the heaviest nursing care environments within the
State Health System. Each patient, without exception, requires direct assistance with physical
transfers continuously with each major activity of daily living. Approximately three to four
hundred (300-400) hoist transfers are performed each day. The implications of this in regard
to occupational health and safety are significant. The Centre continues to strive for best
practice outcomes and preventative activities. Commitment fo occupational safety and health
is a priority. An OS&H Representative has been elected within the Centre and each clinical
area and employee category is represented on the OS&H committee at its monthly meetings.
The Quadriplegic Centre is committed to ensuring the highest standard of occupational safety
and health for all personnel in accordance with the organisation’s policies and procedures.

Table Eight
Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Financial | Number of | Number of Lost Time Injuries | Number of Severe Claims
Year | Fatalies | © ~ “orDisease* =~ | oo

2012113 0 1 0

2011/12 0 0 0

2010/11 0 0 0

2009/10 0 5 2

2008/09 0 13 1

*{ ost time injury or disease” — The number of fost time injury/disease claims where one day/shift or more
was gstimated o be iost.
“Severe Claims”The number of severe claims (estimaled 60 days or more lost from work).

The Centre's current record of lost time injuries reflects the successful outcome and culture
shift which management strategies and extensive training have achieved.
The foliowing strategies are to be adapted for 2012/2013:
o Establish a staff health & welibeing programme
e Manual Handling — reduce the risk, improving practice: 25% reduction in incidence from
previous year
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¢ Emergency Procedure — all staff will be competent and confident in emergency
procedure drills

The Centre is subject to a process of continuous improvement and scrutiny by external audit
under 1SO: 9001-2008 in relation fo quality management systems.

4.6 Fire Safety

The fire system upgrade provides increased safety to the Centre's patients and staff
with the advent of smokeffire doors, an upgraded EWIS system and sprinklers to all
areas of the Centre. The ability to contain a fire, should it occur, will provide
increased capacity to evacuate patients and save lives. To support the system, a
project focus group “Disaster Planning Subcommittee” was established.

The Disaster Planning Subcommittee researched and identified current best practice
strategies in managing emergency situations within a healthcare setting which have
been developed and published as the Quadriplegic Centre Emergency Procedure
Manual supported by Emergency First Response information cards.

All Registered Nurses have undertaken theoretical and practical training in addition

to all employees who are receiving training and instruction in “Emergency
Procedures” and “Fire Extinguisher training”.

4.7 Governance Disclosures
4.7.1 Ministerial Directives

No directives were issued to the Quadriplegic Centre Board during the 2012/13 year.

4.7.2 Potential Conflicts of Interest
No senior officer at the Quadriplegic Centre:

¢ Held any shares as beneficiary or nominee in a subsidiary body of the Quadriplegic
Centre.

e Mr. P. N. Glass, in his capacity as Executive Director of the Spine and Limb
Foundation (Inc) has a related responsibility to administrative staffing of the Centre
and a grounds maintenance contract undertaken for the Centre by Para-Quad
Industries.

e Professor S. Edmondson and G Currie as Board members of the Spine and Limb

Foundation (Inc) have a related responsibility in administrative staffing of the Centre
and a grounds maintenance contract undertaken by ParaQuad Industries.
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¢« Board members and senior officers of the Quadriplegic Centre declare that, other
than the information declared above and that reported in the Financial Statements,
they have no pecuniary interest.

o All Board members of the Quadriplegic Centre undertake their responsibilities
without remuneration or other benefit, in the community interest.

4.8 Other Legal Requirements

4.8.1 Advertising

This information is published in accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act.

Table Nine
Advertising expenditure 2012/13

Class of Expenditure | 2012/13 201112 2010/11 2009/10

Advertising Agencies $ $ $

Adcorp 8,327.53 13,428.63 | 10,635.59 | 10,506.89

Seek 0.00 0.00 1,620.00

Total Expenditure 8,327.53 13,428.63 | 10,635.59 | 12,126.89
4.8.2 Equal Employment Opportunity Qutcomes

integration of EEO Qutcomes

The AQuadriplegic Centre is committed to enhancing and promoting equal
employment opportunities and in that context employment decisions are considered
on merit and without prejudice. The Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace
Act 1999(EOWW Act) has been renamed the Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012
(WGE Act) to put a focus on promoting and improving gender equality and outcomes
for both women and men in the workplace.

All non-public sector employers with 100 or more employees are required to report
annually under the WGE Act. The Quadriplegic Centre submitted the required annual
compliance report for the period 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013 and was found to be
compliant with the Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012.

30




Elimination of Discrimination and Harassment

A comprehensive policy and procedure are in place to eliminate discrimination and
harassment. Grievances relating to discrimination and harassment were addressed
in accordance with the circumstances of the grievance and the policy.

The Centre values EEQ and diversity and the work environment is free from racial
and sexual harassment.

The Centre’'s policies demonstrate a commitment to, diversity and prevention and
management of all forms of discrimination and harassment.

Employment programs and practices recognise and include strategies to achieve
workforce diversity.

The Centre's workforce is diverse, with a multicultural workforce and a multtiplicity of
ethnic groups, as well as staff with physical and intellectual disabilities, with
employment programs and practices being free of gender bias.

Table Ten
Equity and Diversity Indicators:

INDICATOR LEVEL OF ACHIEVEMENT
e EEO Management Plan e Implemented

e Organisational Plans reflect EEO Implemented

s Policies & Procedures encompass EEO

. ¢ Implemented
requirements

o Established EEO contact officer o implemented

o Training & Staff Awareness Programs e Implemented

e Diversity ¢« Implemented
4.8.3 Compliance with Public Sector Standards & Ethical Codes

The Quadriplegic Centre’s human resource processes comply with the Public Sector
Management Act. The recruitment and selection processes for promotional positions
meet the requirements of the public sector standards. Performance management is
consistently and fairly applied for all levels of staff and is open to review. All staff have

equal opportunity to access training and are encouraged to do so.
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A grievance procedure is in place and is promoted at orientation and in-service
education programs. A code of conduct devised from the WA Public Sector Standard is
in place. It is available in ali policy manuals located throughout clinical areas and is
promoted during orientation programs.

No complaints were made to the Public Sector Standards Commissioner related to the
conduct of management or staff and there is no evidence of any breach of the Public
Sector Standards, the WA Public Secter Code of Ethics or the Quadriplegic Centre’s
Code of Conduct.

4.8.4 Record Keeping Policy & Plans

The Quadriplegic Centre has recently reviewed the record keeping policy that covers
all levels of hard copy and electronic records. The policy covers management,
storage, and archiving of staff records, medical records, and administrative
documents. The Centre auditors, SAl Global, regularly conduct reviews of the
efficiency of Centre records and the record keeping process. Employee orientation
addresses record keeping responsibilities relevant to the level of employee.

All archived records are stored in a secure area on site that complies with the Library
Board of WA, the FMA and Department of Health CD0133/08 directives.

4.9 Government Policy Requirements
4.9.1 Corruption Prevention

Prevention of corruption is an area of focus for the Centre and there are policies in
place to manage potential risks. All new staff are given information and education on
public interest disclosure and corruption and the consequences of misconduct.

4.9.2 Sustainability

The Quadriplegic Centre has a continued commitment and awareness of the need to
provide a service with minimal impact on resources. This is particularly relevant in
food services where there are often levels of waste. The implementation of menu
planning, standardised recipes, and specialist catering software have allowed for
accurate calculating of ingredient requirements and significant decrease in waste.
Hotel Services use a fat recycling service to remove and recycle used cooking oils.

The Centre continues to recycle paper, aluminum cans (with proceeds going to the
Patients’ Committee) and monitoring usage of utilities.

; N

S. M.LYensch
Acting Executive Director
Quadriplegic Centre

2 Le0¢. JoR

Date:
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QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD
5. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

5.1  Certification of Key Performance Indicators

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records,
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Quadriplegic Centre
Board's performance and fairly represent the performance of the Board for the
financial year ended 30" June 2013.

Xf % et /// ,/m;

e
Prof/S Edmondston r. G Currie
Chairperson ~ Member of the Board
Quadriplegic Centre Board Quadriplegic Centre Board
Date: 9 September 2013 Date: 9 September 2013

G:{"G ‘ﬁ"\‘
f\d‘eff =

USR]
% o : .? £

A

o™



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Introduction

The aim in presenting this information is to assist the public to understand the
complex and diverse nature of services and activities of the Quadriplegic Centre and
how these contribute to its performance.

The key performance indicators reported in the following pages address the extent to
which the strategies and activities of the Quadriplegic Centre have contributed to the

‘required outcomes.

Effectiveness indicators

QOutcome 1:

Outcome 2:

Outcome 3:

Efficiency Indicators

Qutcome 1:

Outcome 2:

Sub - acute Transitional Care (step down) service

To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalization
of community clients through the provision of primary

care, where practicable

To provide services according to recognized best practice
Standards and in a manner acceptable to patients and

Clients

To provide the most efficient service to recognized best
Practice standards and in a manner that maintains

Quality care to patients and clients

To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalization
Of community clients through the provision of primary

Care, where practicable




5.2 Effectiveness Indicators

Outcome 1:
Sub - acute Transitional Care (step — down) Service

There is increased emphasis on the Cenire for the provision of transitional care for
patients from the State Spinal Unit to:
e Facilitate the early discharge of patients from the Tertiary Hospital.
e Continue clinical management and post acute rehabilitation.
¢ Prepare patients for community integration whilst awaiting funding applications for
community care.

Key performance indicators for outcome 1

Outcome 1 2012/13 201112 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09
Number of patients at start | 25 16 15 16 11

- of the year
Number of admissions 12 15 8 4 i 10
Number of discharges 21 6 17 3 6
Number of patientsatend | 16 25 16 17 ) 15
of year
Discharge Target 50% 56.8 % 19.3% 30.4% 15% | 28.5%




Outcome 2:
To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalization of community clients
through the provision of primary care, where practicable

e The Spinal Injury Liaison Service currently has 488 active clients on its database
requiring support.

e« The Spinal Injury Liaison Service has responded to 3034 requests for assistance
from clients and associated referring service providers,

¢ 88 new pressure sores / burns were identified

e 95 percent of pressure areas / burns preventing admissions to sub acute tertiary
care were managed successfully by the service. ]

The successful treatment and support of clients in the home reduces both the
incidence severity and cost associated with acute tertiary admissions.

Key performance indicators for outcome 2

2012/13 88 84 T 85% T 95%

2011/12 94 90 85% 96%

201011 92 86 85% 93.4%
2009/10 77 70 85% 90.9%
2008/09 79 72 85% 91.1%

The cost of treating pressure related ulcers/burns in terfiary settings are substantial
each year. Early and timely community intervention as provided by SILS reduces
and in many cases negates the necessity for hospitalisation thereby reducing the
overall impact of a client’s injury and the high preventable cost of care in a tertiary or
sub acute hospital.
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Outcome 3:
To provide services according to recognized best practice standards and
in a manner acceptable to patients and clients.

The Centre was once again successfully audited by external auditors fro S.A.l. Global.
The Centre's status as a Quality Endorsed Company under International Quality
Standard ISO AS/NZS 9001:2008 was once again confirmed.

Client satisfaction surveys are conducted by external auditors on a biennial basis. The
most recent resulis can be seen here:

Admitted patient survey
dard % sta 3 | % standard

5606/10 73 57

2011/12

87 73

Standard 1: Management systems, staffing and organizational development
Standard 2: Health and personal care
Standard 3: Resident lifestyle

Standard 4: Physical environment and safe systems

The patient satisfaction survey achieved the target outcome with 80% overall
satisfaction recorded.
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5.3 Efficiency Indicators

Outcome 1:

To provide the most efficient service to recognized best practice standards and
in a manner that maintains quality care to patients and clients.

Clinical services are provided within the Centre's allocated budget to recognised best
Practice standards to meet patient's physical, emotional, social, psychological and lifestyle
needs. Client satisfaction surveys are conducted on a biennial basis with the Quadriplegic
Centre’s patients and the Spinal Injury Liaison Service’s community clients. These have
demonstrated a positive and constructive response from both the Centre's patients and
community clients and have confirmed the high standard of service delivery provided.

Cost per bed day for Quadriplegic Centre in-patient services

Cost per bed el
$485.95 $474.84 $421.68 $397.00 o

Target

$503.54 $448.55 $409.75 $425.05 $313.96

Cost per bed day is calculated on the Centre’s fotal cost of service divided by occupied bed days

Increase in bed day costs have been influenced by the Centre's commitment to the
support of ventilator dependent patients requiring substantially increased staff and
clinical resources.




Qutcome 2:

To assist in the prevention of inappropriate hospitalization of community clients
through the provision of primary care, where practicable.

Cost per community client for clinical and related services

Occasions of 3326 3525 3898 2270
service
Cost per visit
$57.97 $56.64 $46.37 $67.50 $72.04
Target cost
pervisit | $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00 $70.00
The efficiency indicator for cost per patient contact is calculated on the total cost of the spinal liaison

service.

The lower cost per occasion of service as against budget demonstrates the
increased number of clients services within the current resource allocation.




DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certification of Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements of the Quadriplegic Centre Board have been prepared in
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

and the financial position as at 30 June 2013,

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Stepghen Edmondson, Dip Physio, Adv Dip Physio, PhD. eoff Currie, ACA

G

Chairman Board Member
Quadriplegic Centre Board Quadriplegic Centre Board
Date: 8 September 2013 Date: 8 September 2013

v

Shane Wensch, FCPA
Chief Finance Officer
Quadriplegic Centre Board
Date: 9 September 2013
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note 2013 2012
$000 $000
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 7 9,297 9,182
Fees for visiing medlcal practitioners 88 85
Patient support costs 8 956 464
Depreciation and amoriisation expense g 212 205
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment 10 378 381
Other expenses 11 244 659
Total cost of services 11,174 11,476
INCOME
Revenue
Patient charges 12 3,260 3,317
Interest revenue 128 121
Other revenues 13 164 283
Total revenue 3,552 3721
Total income other than income from State Government 3,552 3,721
NET COST OF SERVICES 7,622 7,755
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 14 8,134 8,543
Total income from State Government 9,134 8,543
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,542 - 788

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nofes.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Statement of Financial Position

As at 30th June 2013
Note 2013 2012

ASSETS $000 $000
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 26(a) 4,747 3,175

Receivables 15 161 115

Invenfories 17 25 23
Total Current Assets 4,833 3,313
Non-Current Assets

Amounis receivable for services 16 300 390

Property, plant and equipment 18 1,236 1,408
Total Non-Current Assels 1,626 1,798
Total Assets 6,559 51411
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 21 354 565

Provisions 22 1,389 1.425

Other current lizbilities 23 108 76
Total Current Liabilities 1,859 2,066
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 22 377 234
Total Non-Current Liabilities 377 234
Total Liabilities 2,236 2,200
NET ASSETS 4,323 2,811
EQUITY

Contributed equity 24 156 156

Accumulated surplus/{deficit) 25 4,167 2,655
TOTAL EQUITY 4,323 2,811

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nofes.




Quadriptegic Centre Board

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 36th June 2013

Note 2013 2012
$000 $000

Balance of equity at start of period 2,811 2,023
CONTRIBUTED EQINTY
Balance at start of period 24 156 156
Balance at end of period 156 156
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 25
Balanve at start of period 2,655 1,867
SurplusK{deficit} for the period 1512 788
Balance at end of period 4,167 2,655
Balance of equity at end of period 4,323 2,811
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,512 788

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in confunction with the accompanying notes.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Statement of Cash Fiows
For the year ended 30th June 2013

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Met cash provided by State Government

Liilised as follows;

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefils

Supplies and services

Receipts
Receipts from customers
Interest received
GST refunds from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash (used in} / provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of non-current physical assets

Net increase / {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash aquivalents at the beginning of petiod

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD

Note 2013 2012
$005 $000
fnflows inflows

{Outflows) (Outfiows)

8,134 8,543

26¢ 9,134 8543
(9,172} (2,148)
(1,878} {1,586)

3.261 3,238

128 121
12 (7}

105 355
26b {7.514) (7.327)
{48} {63}

1.572 1,153

3,175 2,622

26a 4747 BERYE

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying noles.




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

MNote 1 Australian Accounting Standards

Genaral

The Quadrplegic Cenfre Board's financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared In accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, The term *Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards and Inferpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Quadriptegic Centre Board has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from thelr eperative
dates,

Early adoption of standards

The Cuadriplegic Centre Board cannot early adopt an Austraian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitied by Treasurer's
Insfruction 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. No Ausiralian Accounting Standards
that have been issued or amended but not operative have baen eardy adopted by the Quadriplegic Centre Board for the annual
reporting period ended 30 June 2013,

Note 2 Sommary of signfficant accounting poticies

(a} General Statement

The Quadriplegic Centre Board iz a not for profit entity that prepares general purpose finaticlal stalements in accordance with
Australlan Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the
Austraitan Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's instructions. Severaf of these sre modified by the Treasurer's
instructions to vary appilication, disclosura, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparalion of financial
statements and take precedence over the Austrafian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepls and
other autheritative pronouncements of the Australlan Accounting Sfandards Board.

Whete modification Is required and has had a maferiat or significant financial effect gpon the reported results, detalis of that
maodification and fhe resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial staternents,

(b) Basiy of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.

The accounting policles adopted In the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods
presanted unless ofhetwisa stated.

The financial statements are presented in Austraffan dollars and alf valies are rounded to the nearest thousand doflars ($'000).

Note 3 “Judgements made by management in applying accounting policles’ discloses fudgements that have been made in the
progess of applying the Quadriplegic Centre Board's accounting policles resulling in the most significant effect on amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 'Key sources of estimation uncerfainty' discloses key assumptions made conceming the futive, and other key sources of
eslimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and fabilitles within the next financizl year,

{¢} Reporfing Entity
The reporting entity comprises the Quadriplegic Centre Board only.

(d} Contributed Equity
AASSE interpretation 1038 ‘Confributions by Owners Made fo Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requlves fransfers in the nature of
equily contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the
owner} as contribuions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such fransfers can be recognised as equily
contrbutions, Capital appropriations have been designated as cantributions by ownets by Treasurer’s Instruction 855 '‘Canfributions
by Owners made fo Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities ' and have been credited directly to contributed equity.

The transfer of net assets foffrom other agencles, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative atrangements, are
designated as contribuions by cwners whare the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
See 4lso o note 24 - Contributed Equity.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 36th June 2013

{ej Income

Revenue regognifion

Revenue is recognised and measured at the falr value of consideration received or receivable. Specific recognition criteria must be
met before revenue Is recognised as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when tha significant risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue Is recognised on defivery of the service to the dient.

interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest gcenses.

Service Appropriations

Service Appropriafions are recognised as revenues at nominal vaiue In the period i which the Quadriplegic Centre Board galns
confrof of the appropriated funds. The Quadriplegic Centre Board gains contro! of appropriated funds at the ime those funds are
deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amaunts recelvable for services’ {holding account) held at Treasury.

Refer to note 14 °Service Appropriations' for further information,

Grants, donations, gifts and ofher non-reciprocal coniribuions
Revenue is recognised at feir value when the Quadriplegic Cenire Board obtains confrol aver the assets comprising the contributions,
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services
are only recognised when a fair value can be reflably defermined and the services would be purchased if not donafed.

Gains
Gains may be reafised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis, These inciude gains arising on the disposal of non-
curent assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

{f}  Property, Plant and Equipment
Capitglisation/Expensing of assets

ftems of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or mare are recognised as assels and the cost of utifising assets is expensed
{depreciated} over thelr useful lives. ltems of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed
direct to the Statement of Comprehensive income (other than where they form part of s group of similar items which are signifisant in

total).

Initial recognition and measyurament

Adlitems of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.
For items of propesty, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is thelr fair valie at the date of
acquisition,

Subsequent measurement
All fems of properly, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depeeciation and accurmisfated impairment

fosses.

Bepreciation

All non-cuirrent assets having a Amited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful fives in a manner that
reflects the consumpiion of thelr Rifure econormic benefits,

tn order to apply this policy, the foliowing methods are uillised ; :
* alf categories of assets - straight line method ’

The assets’ usefuf fives are reviewed annually. Expected useful fives for each class of depreciable assel are;

Computer equipment 410 7 years
Fumiture and fitings 10 to 15 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years
Other plant and equipment & to 25 years

{g} impairment of Assets

Property, plant and equipment and Infangible assets are lesied for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporfing period.
Where there Is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimaied. Where Hhe recoverable amount is less than the ;
camying amount, the asset is considered impaired and Is written down to the recoverable amount. Where an asse! measured af cost ;
is writters dows to recoverable amount, an impaimnent loss is recognised in profit or logs, Whare g previously revalued asset is wiitten f
down fo recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaiuation decrement in other comprehensive income, As the Quadriplegic .
Centre Board is a not-for-profit enfity, unless an asset has been identified as » surplus asset, the recoverable amount Is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated reptacement cost. !
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 20th June 2013

{g)

n

]

®

(k)

o

{m}

Impairment of Assets {continued)

The riek of impairment is generally imited to clrcumstances where an assel's depreciation is materially understated, where the
replacement cost is fafling or where thera Is a significant change it useful iife. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to
verify that the accumulated depreclation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset's fulure econgmic
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs,

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present vaive of
future cash flows expecied fo be derived from the assel. Surplus assets caried at fair value have no risk of matesiat impairment
where fair value is determined by reference to markeb-based evidence. Where falr velus |s defermined by reference to depreciated
replacement cost, suplts assels are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surpius assets at cost are
tested for indications of impalrment at the end of each reporting period.

Refer to note 20 ‘tmpairent of assets’ for the outcome of impalment reviews and testing.

Financial Instroments
It addifion fo cash, the Quadiiplegic Centre Board has two categories of financial instrument;

- Loans and receivables; and
- Financlal Babikties measured at amortised cost.

These have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financlal Agsel

* Cash and cash eguivalents

* Receivables

*  Amounts receivabie for services

Financial Liablities

* Payables

Initial recognition and measwrement of financial instruments is af fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face
vatue, Subsequent measurement Is at amortised cost using the effective interest method,

The fair value of short-term recelvables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value becavse there is no interest rate
applicable and subseguent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting fs not material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposils
with original matarities of three months or less that are readily converfible to a known amount of cash and which are subject fo
insignificant risk of changes In value.

Accruod Salaries

Accrued salares (see nole 21 'Payables’) represent the amount due to employses but unpalif at the end of the financial year, as the
pay date for the fast pay period for that financial vear does nof coineide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salares are settfed

within a fortnight of the financial year end, The Quadriplegic Centre Board considers the carrying amount of acerued salaries to be
equivatent to its net fair value,

Amounts Receivable for Services (holding account)

The Quadriplegic Centrs Board receives income from the State Government parfly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account
receivable). The accrued amount approprated is accessible o the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover ieave
entitlements and assef replacement.

Refer to note 14 "Senvice appropriafions' and note 16 'Amounts recelvable for services",
tnventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most appropriale for each
paticutar class of Inventory, with the majority being reasured on a first in first out basis.

inventories not held for resale are valued af cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued af net realisable
value, (See Note 17 * invenfories’)

Receaivables

Racejvables are recognised and carrdad at original invoice amount lass an allowance for any uncoflectible amounts {L.e. impairment).
The collectabifity of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncoliectible are writien-off agalinst
the aflowance account. The allowance for uncolflectible amounts {doubt{ul debts) Is raised when there is objective evidence that the
(uadriplegic Centre Board will not be able {o coliect the debis. The camying amount s equivaient to fair value as it is due for
settioment within 30 days,

Rafer to note Z(h} ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 15 ‘Receivables”.

- .Q:\{[QN#O\

& o,

. 2
085G ™ = 3
CTA | - =
AR AUDITED =

f' AUDITED

3
\ooan

<
%




Quadriplegic Centire Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

(n)

(o}

Payables

Payables are recognised af the amounts payable when the Quadripleglc Centre Board becomes obliged fo make fiture payments as
a resuft of a purchase of assets or services. The canying amount i3 equivalent to fair value as they are generaily settled within 30
days.

Refer tv nofe 2{h} Financial instuments’ and note 21 Payables’,

Provisions

Provistong are fiabilities of uncertaln fiming or amourt and are recognised whers there is a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event and when the oufflow of resources embodying econamic benefits is probable and a reflable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Refer to nole 22 ‘Provisions’.

Provis - emploves benefits

Annugl Leave

The fiabifity for annual feave within 12 months affer the reporting pered is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounis
expected to be pald when the liabifiies are seitied. Annusl jeave more than 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and
measured af the prasent value of amounds sxpected to be paid when the liabiliies are setfled.

When zssessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected fubire wage and salary levels including non-salary
components such as employer superannuation coniributions, as well as the experience of employee deparfures and periods of
service. The expected future payments ara discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting pericd on nationat government
bonds with ferms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outfiows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Quadriplegic Centre Board does not have an unconditional
right to the defer settlement of the liabiiity for at ieast 12 months after the reporiing pedod.

Long service leave

The lability for long service leave that is expected to be setfied within 12 months after the end of the reporting perod is recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expecied to be paid wheh the liabliity Is seftfed.

Long setvice feave not expected to be seftfed within 12 months after the end of the reporting period Is recognised and measured at
the presant value of amounts expected to be pald when the fiabilities are seftled using the remuneration rate expacted to apply at the

time of settlement.

When assessing expecled fulure payments considecatfon is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-satary
components such as employer superannuation comibutions, as welt as the experisnca of employee departures and petiods of
service. The expecied future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national govertiment
bonds with ferns to maturity that match, as tlosely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows,

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilitiss as the Quadriplegic Cenfre Board does nof have an
unconditional right to defer setffement of the abillty for at least 12 menths after the end of the reporting perad. Pre-condifional and
conditional long service lsave provisions are classified as non-surrent liablliles because the Quaddplegic Cenfre Board has an
unconditional right to defer the sefllement of the liabTity until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Sick Leave
Liabifities for sick leave are recognised when if is probable that sick feave paid in the future will be greater than the entifement that
will accrue in the future,

Past history indicates that on average, sick [eave taken each reporting period is less than the enfilement accrued, This is expected
to continue b future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitiements witl be used by employess and no
fiability for unused sick Isave enfitiements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised Tn the Statement of
Comprehensive Income for this leave as i is taken.

Superannuation

The Govemment Employees Supetantuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers adminlster public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Efigibliity criteria for membership in parficidar
schemes for public sector employses vary according to commencement and Implementation dates.

Eligitle employees contribute fo the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987 or the
Gold State Superannuation Scheme {358}, a defined benefit lump sum schems closed to new members since 1865,

Employees commencing employment prior tr 16 Aprit 2007 who were not members of sither the Penslon or the GSS Schemes
became non-contributory members of the West Stale Superannuation Scheme (WSS), Employees commending employment oh of
after 16 Aprl 2007 became members of the GESE Super Schema (GESHS). From 30 March 2112, existing members of the WSS or
GESBS and new smployees have been able to fo choose their preferred superannuation fund provider, The Quadtiplegic Cenlre
Board makes contributions to GESB or cther fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth
Govemment's Superannuation Guarantee (Adminjstration} Act 1882. Confributions ta these accumulation schemnes extinguish the
Guatriplegic Centre Board's liabifity for superannuation charges In respect of the employess who are not members of the Pension
Scheme or GES.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes fo the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

{o)

1G]

{0

Note

Note

Note

Provigions {contined)

The GS5S Scheme is & defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole of govemment repording. However, itis a
defined contritudtion plan for Quadriplegic Centre Board purposes hecause the concurent contributions (defined confributions) made
by the Quadriplegic Centre Board to GESB extinguishes the Quadriplegic Centre Board's obligations to the refated superannuation
liability.

The Quaddplegic Centre Board has no Eabiliies under the Pension or the GS8 Schemes. The liabiiities for the unfunded Pension
Scheme and the unfunded 3SS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed

by the Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent contribulions made by the Quadriplegic Centre Board
fo the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the Treasurer for the
employar's share .

Refer to note 2{p} ‘Superannuation expense’,

Empioyment on-casts

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not empioyee benefits and are recognised separately as
fiabifitles and expenses when the employment to which they relate bas occiered. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other
expenses’ and are not included as pait of the Quadriplegic Centre Board's ‘Employee benefits expense’. Any refated Hability is
included in *Employment on-costs provision'.

Refer to note 11 ‘Cther expenses’ and note 22 ‘Provisions”,

Superannuation expense

The superannualion expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contribitions paid to the GS8
{concurrent contrihutions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS),

Gomparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The preparation of finandial stalements requires management fo make judgements about the application of accounting policles that
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, The Quadriplegic Centre Board evaluates these
judgements regularly,

4 Koy sources of estimation unceriainty

Key estimates and assumptions concemning the fulure are based on historica! experience and vardous other factors that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrylng amount of assets and labilities within the next financlal year:

Empioyee benefits provision

In estimating the non-current iong secvice leave labilitles, employees are assumed {6 leave the Quadripiegic Centre Board each year
on acoount of resignation or refirement at 10.6%. This assumption was based on an analysis of the tumover rates exhiblted hy
employees over a five years period. Employses with ieave benefits to which they are fully entitled are assumed to take afl available
leave uniformiy over the following five years or to age 65 If eariier,

& Disclosure of changes In accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Quadriplegic Cenfre Board has applied the foliowing Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods
teginning on or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the Quadriplegic Centre Board:

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Austrafian Accounting Standards - Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive income
[AASB 1, 5 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 10449]

This Standard requires 1o group ftems presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether
they are potentfally reclassifiable to proft or loss subsequently {reciassification adjustments). There is no
financia! impact,




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Noftes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note 5§ Disclogure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future Impact of Austraiian Accounting Standards nof yet oparative

The Quadriplegic Centre Board cannot earfy adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unisss specifically permited by Treasurer's
Instruction 1101 “Auplication of Australian Accounting Standartfs and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Quadriplegic
Centre Poard has not applied early any of the following Auskraliarr Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the
Quadriplegic Centre Board. Where applicable, the Quadriplegic Cantre Board plans to apply these Ausiralian Accounting Standards
from thelr application date,

Title
Cperative far

reporting periods
beginning en/after

AASB 8 Financiaf Instruments 1 Jan 2015

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 ‘Fipancial Instrumenis: Recognition and
Measurement', introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

AASE 2012-6 Amendments fo Australian Accaunting Stendards - Mandeatory Effective
Date of AASE 8 and Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory application date
of this Standard fo 1 January 2016, The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet
determined the application or the potentiat impact of the Standard.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 dan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 ‘'Consolidated and Separste Financial
Statements' and Int 112 'Consolidation —Specisl Purpose Entifies’, infroducing a
number of changes fo accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was defemed by one year for nofforprofit
entities by AASB 201210 Amendments fo Ausiralfan Accounting Standards -
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments . The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 ‘Inferests in Joint Venfures', infroduding a
number of changes {0 accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Sfandard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit
entities by AASBE 2012-10. The Quadriplegle Centre Board has not yet determined the
apptication or the potential Impact of the Standard.

AASE 12 Disclosure of Inferests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 'Consofidated
and Separate Financial Staferments’ and AASE 131 'Inferests in Joint Venfurss',

Mandatary application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-fop-profit
entities by AASE 2012-10. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet determined the
spplication or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 Jan 2013

This Standard defines fair value, sels out a framework for meastring fair value and
requires additional disclosures about fair value measurements. There s no financlal
impact.

AASB 118 Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes AASH 119 '‘Employee Benefits® {October 2010), making 1 dan 2013
changes to the recognifion, presentation and disclosure requirements.

The Quadriptegic Centre Board does not have any defined banefit plans, and therefore
the financial impact wilt be limited to the effect of discounting annual leave and iong
service leave fabiliies that were previousty measured at the undiscounted amounts,

AASB 127 Separate Financial Stalements

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 ‘'Consolideled and Seperate Financial 1 Jan 2014
Statements', Infroducing a number of changes fo accounting {reatments,

Mandafory application of this Standard was deferred by ona year for not-for-profit
entities by AASB 2012-10. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yet determined the
//’" . application or the potenfial impact of the Standard.
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note 8 Disclosurs of changes in accounting poficy and estimates {continted)

Future impact of Australlan Accounting Standards not yet operative
Title

Operativa for
reposting periods
beginning on/afier

AASE 128

AASH 1053

AASB 1055

AASE 2010-2

AASB 2010-7

AASE 20112

AASE 20116

AASE 20117

investments in Assocfates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 ‘lnvestments in Assoclates’, Introducing a
nusmber of changes to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Stendard was deferred by one year for not-for-proit
entities by AASS 2012-10. The Quadriplegic Centre Board has not yetf determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard,

Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting frarmework consisting of two
flers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose finandlal statements.
Thera Is no financial impact,

Budgetary Reporting

This Standatd spedifies the nature of budgetary disciosures, the tircumstances in
which they are {0 be included in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-
profi entities within the GGS. The Quadrplegic Cenfre Board will be required to
disciose additional budgetary information and explanafions of major variances between
actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact,

Amendments fo Austrelien Accounting Standards arsing from Reduced Disclosure
Requirernents [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 118,
121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 144, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int
2. 4.5 15,17, 127, 129 & 1052]

This Standard makes amendments fo Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretafions to infroduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain lypes of
entiies. There is no financial Impact.

Amendments (o Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 (December
2010 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136,
137, 139, 1023 & 1038 end int 2, &, 10, 12, 19 & 127}

This Standard makes consequentlal amendments to other Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issulng AASB 8 in Dacember 2010,

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application dafs of this Standard to 1 January
2015. The Quadiplegic Centre Board has not yet defermined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.

Amendments to Austrafian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman
Convergence Project — Reduced Disclosure Reguirements [AASE 101 & 1054)

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and
incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence belween Australian
and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure repotting, There is no
financial impact.

Amendments to Audstrallan Accounting Stendards — Extending Rellef Fom
Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolfdafion - Reduced
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131]

This Standard extends the relisf from consolidation, the equity method and
propertionate consolidation by remeving the requirement for the consolidated financial
statements prepared by the ulimate or any inlermediate parent entity to be IFRS
compliant, provided that the parent enfity, investor or venfurer and the ultimate or
intermediate parent entity comply with Austrafian Accounting Standards -- Reduced
Disciosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and
Joint Arangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7,101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132,
133, 136, 138, 136,1023 & 1038andInt 6, 8, 16 & 17

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of
AASE 10, AASE 11, AASB 127 'Separate Financial Statements' and AASB 128
Investments in Assoclates and Joint Ventures', For not-for-profit entifies it applies to
annual reporfing periods begloning on or after 1 January 2014, The Quadriplegic
Centre Board has hot yet detenmined the application or the potential impact of the
Slandard,

1 Jan 2044

1 Jul 2013

1.Jut 2014

1 .Jul 2013

1 Jan 2015

1 4d 2013

1 Jul 2013

1 Jan 2013
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note §  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and extimates {continued]

Future impact of Austrafian Accounting Standards not yet operative

Titls

Operative for
reporting periods
heginning onfafier

AASE 2011-8

AABH 2011-10

AASE 201111

AASE 2012-1

AASB 2012-2

AASB 2012-3

AASB 2012-5

AASRE 2012-6

Amendments fo Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3,
4,8, 7, 101, 102 108 110, 116 117, 118, 118, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134,
136, 138, 139, 140 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 18, 131 &
132}

This Standard replaces the exisfing definition and fair value guldance in ofher
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13
in September 2011, Thera is no financial impadt,

Amendments fo Ausiralian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 118 (September
2011} [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1048 & 2071-8 and Int 14]

This Standard makes amendments o other Austrafian Accounting Standards and
interpretations as a result of issving AASE 119 'Employes Benefifs’ in September
2611, There Is no financial impact.

Amendments to AASE 119 (September 20711} arising from Reduced Disclosure
Ragiairements

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounfing Standards —~ Reduced Disclosure
Requirements for AASB 118 (September 2011). There is no financiak mpact.

Amendments to Aushalian Accounting Standards - Falr Value Measuremnent -
Reduced Disclosure Requirememnts [AASBS, 7, 13, 140 & 141}

This Standard establishes and amends redoced disclosure requirements for additionat
and amended disclosires ansing from AASB 13 and consequential amendments
implemented throtigh AASE 2011-18. There is no financial impact.

Amernciments to Austrafian Accounting Standards - Disclosures - Offsetfing Financiaf
Assels and Financiaf Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]

This Standard amends the required disciosures in AASE 7 fo include informalion that
will enable users of an entity'’s financial stafements to evaluate the effect or potential
effect of netting arangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entily's
recognised financial assets and recognised financial Niabilities, on the endity's financial
positien, There is no financial Impact.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards ~ Qffselfing Financial Assets and
Finaneial Uabliities [AASE 132}

This Standard adds application guidance fo AASB 132 fo address nconsistencles
identified in applying some of the offselting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of
*eurrently has a legally enforceable right of sel-off* and that soms gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent to net selttement. There is no financlal impact.

Amendments fo Australian Accounting Standards afising from Annual fmprovements
2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]

This Standard makes amerndments to the Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpratations as a consequence of the anhual improvements process, There is no
financlal impact.

Amendments fo Auslratian Accounting Standends - Mandatory Effective Dafe of AASE
& and Transition Disclosures [AASE §, 2009-11, 2010-7, 20117 & 2011-8]

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments
to 1 January 2015. Further amendments are also made to consequential amendments
arlsing from AASE 9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to consequentiat
amendments arsing out of the Standards that wilt stil apply from 1 January 2013.
Thera is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

1Jdan 2013

1 Jul 2613

1 Jui 2013

1 Jan 2013

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2013

1 Jan 2013
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Mote §  Disclosure of changes In accounting policy and estimates {continued)

Future impact of Australisn Accounting Standards not yet operative

Title

Operative for
reporting perfods
bepinning on/after

AASB 2012-7

AASE 2012-10

AASE 2012-11

Amendmenfs fo Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure
Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127}

This Standard adds fo or amends the Australian Actounting Standards to provide
further information regarding the differential reporting framework and the two ters of
reporting requirements for preparing generai financial statement. There is no financial
impact,

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transition Guidance and Other
Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128,
132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2014-7 and inf 12}

This Siandard makes amendments 1o AASB 10 and related Standards to revise the
fransifion guidance relevant to the initiat application of those Standards, and to dlarify
the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity's previous accounting for its
involvement with other entities are required and the iming of such adjustments.

The Standard was issued in December 2012, The Health Service has not yet
determined the appilcation or the potential impact of the Standarg.

Amendments to Austraiian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Reqairements
and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 201141

This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Austraftan Atcounting Standards -
Reduced Disclosure Requirements (Tier 2). These comections ensure that the
Standards reflect decislons of the AASE regarding the Tier 2 requirements,

The Standard also extends the relisf from consolidation and the equity method {in the
new Consolidation and Joint Amangement Standards) to enfiies complying with
Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There Is no
financial impact.

Note 8 Services of the Quadriplegic Centre

Continuing Care

1 Jut 2013

1 Jan 2013

1.Ju 2093

Quadriplegic Centre support services provide people with high spinat injury or disease with treatment and continuing rehabilitative
care to enable them to remain healthy. Services include the Spinal injury Liason Service, (form July 2013 to be known as
Quadriplegic Centre Community Nursing Service) which aims to reduce unplanned/avoidable hospital admissions and presentations
to emergency depariments as well as reducing length of stay for patients requiring inpatient care, and non-govemment organisation
contracts that provide community members with services and support for people with spinal injury.

2013 2012
Note 7 Employea henefifs expense $000 $000
Salaries and wages {a) 8,571 B445
Superannuation - defined contribution plans &) 726 737
8,297 9,182
{a} Includes the vafue of the fringe benefit to the employees.
{b} Defined contibution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super and other
eligible funds.
Employment on-costs expense is induded at note 11 'Other expenses’, The employment on-
cosls liability is included at note 22 'Provisions'.
Note 8  Patient support costs
Medical suppliss and services 271 305
Domestle charges 223 224
Fuel, ight and power 226 184
Food supplies 236 251
956 S84
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note

Note

Note

Note

2013 2012
$000 $000
Note 8 Depreciation and amortisation expense
B -
Computer equipment 12 -
Fumiture and fitfings 48 52
Motor vehicles 2 3
Other plant and equipment 150 150
212 205
Note 10 Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment
Repairs and maintenance 306 239
Consumable equipment 73 142
379 381
Note 11 Other expenses
Communications 13 13
Employment on-costs (a} 110 454
Insurance 5 8
Legal expenses - 76
Motor vehicle expenses 8 1t
Printing and stationery 14 12
Other 83 85
244 853
{8} includes workers' compensation insurance., The on-costs liabifity associated with the
recognition of annual and long service leave iiability is included at note 22 'Provisions'.
Supsrannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision far leave are employee benefils
and ace not included in employment on-costs,
12 Patient charges
{npafient charges 3,260 317
13 Other reventes
Services fo externat organisaffons 8 12
Use of hospital facilities i} 22
Other 145 249
164 283
14 Service appropriations
Appropriation revenue recelved during the year:
Service appropriations 8,134 8,543
Service appropriation fund the net cost of servicas deliverad. Appropriation revenue comprises
a cash component and & receivabla (assef). The receivable (holding account) comprises the
budgeted depreciafion expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave Habllity during the
year. No receivablie was accrued this year.
15 Recelvables
Current
Patient fee deblors 115 57
Other recefvables - -
115 57
GST receivable 48 58
161 115
The CQuadrdplegic Centre Board does not hold any coflateral as securify or other oredit
enhancements relating fo recefvables.
Ses also nole 2{m) 'Receivables’ and note 35 Financial instruments',
T AT
SN




Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

2013 2012
$000 $000
Note 16 Amounts recelvable for services
Currant - -
Nore-cirrent 390 380
390 390
This asset represents the non-cash component of service appropriations, it is restricted in that
it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave fiability. See note 2(k) 'Amounts
receivable for services'
Note 17 inventories
Gurrent
Pharmaceutical stores - at cost 25 23
See note 2(1) 'Inventories’.
Note 48 Property, plant and equipment
Computer equipment
At cost 83 91
Accumulated depraciation {21) {60}
Accumulated impalrment losses - -
62 H
Furniture and fittings
Af cost 1,033 1,040
Accurnufated dapreciation {908) {8E5)
Accumulated impsirment losses - -
124 175
Motor vehicles
Af cost 58 57
Accumulated depreciation (58) (55)
Accumulated impairment losses - -
0 2
Other plant and equipment
At cost 1,500 1,500
Accumuiated depreciation {450} {300}
Accumuiated impairment losses - ~
1,080 1,260
Total property, plant and equipment 1,236 1,408
Reconcifiations
Reconcifiations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the baginning and
end of the current financlal year are set out below,
Computer equipment
Carrying amount at start of year ] 3
Additions 43 N
Depreciation {12} -
Carrying amount at end of year 62 S
Furniture and fittings
Carrying amount at start of year 178 195
Additions 5 32
Depreciation (48) {52
Transfer between asset classes {&) -
Carrying amount at end of year 124 175
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note

Note

Kote

Note

Note 18 Property, plant and equipment {continued) 2013 2012
$000 $000
Mofor vehlcles
Carrying amount at start of year 2 5
Depraciation 2} 3
Carrying amount af end of yvear [1] 2
Other plant and equipment
Canying amount at start of year 1,200 1,350
Transfer froraf{to) other reporting entities - -
Depredciafion {150} {150}
Canrying amount at end of year 1,050 1,200
Total property, plant and equipment
Camying amount at start of year 1,408 1,550
Additfons 48 63
Dapreciation (212 (204)
Carrying amaunt at end of year 1,236 1,408
19 intangibfe assots
Comptrier software
At cost - 2
Accuriulated amortisation - {2}
20 impairment of Agseis
There were no indications of impairment fo property, plant and equipment, and infangible assats
at 30 June 2013.
All surplus assels at 30 June 2013 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written
oft.
21 Payahles
Current
Trade creditors 175 382
Acorued salaries 179 173
364 565
See also note 2{n} ‘Payables’ and nole 35 'Financial instruments’,
22  Provisions i
Carrent
Emplovee benefifs provision
Annual leave (a) 1,204 1,104
Long service leave {b) 198 321
1,399 1,428
Non-current
Employes banefits provision
Long service leave (b) 377 234
Total provisions 1,776 1,658
{a) Anhwual leave liabilities and time off in fiev leave liabiliies have been classified as cument as
there is no unconditional right to defer settiernent for at least 12 months after the reporfing date,
Assessments indicate that asfual settiement of the tiabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the reporting date 833 as54
More than 12 months after the reporting date 871 160
1,204 1,104
/,:-1’" P
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Mote 22 Provisions (continued) 2013 2612

{b) Long senvice leave Habilities have been classified as currant where there is no unconditionat
right to defer seftiement for at least 12 months after the reporting period, Assessments indicate
that actual setfiement of the liablilles will ocour as foliows:

Within 12 months of the reporiing period 47 67
More than 12 months after the reporling period 528 488
572 555

MNote 23  Other liabilities

Current
income received in advance 106 76

Note 24 Contributed Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Quadriplegic Centre Board. The
Govemnment holds the equity interest in the Quadriplegic Centre Board on behatf of the

community.

Batance at stast of the year 156 156

Contributions by owners - -
Distributions to owners - “
8Balance at end of year 156 158

Note 25 Accumutated surplusi{deficit)

Balance at start of year 2,655 1,867
Resuit for the period 1812 788
Balance at end of yoar 4,167 2,655

Hote 26 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
a}  Reconciliation of cash

Cash assels at the end of the finandial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows s
reconciied to the related items In the Statement of Financdial Pasition as follaws:

Cash and cash eguivalents 4,747 3,175

b}  Reconcliiation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activitles

Net cash used in operating activities (Statement of Gash Flows) {7.514) {7.327)
Inereasef{dacrease) in assets:
G8T recaivable (12} 7
Other curent teceivables 58 (55)
nvenforias 2 {2)
Decrease/(incraase) in Habilities:
Payables 210 {78}
Current provisions 26 {112}
Non-current provisions {148) (44}
Income recaived In advance {29) 62
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense {note 9) (212 {205)
Adjustment for other non-cash items (8) 0
Net cost of services (Statement of Comprehensive Income) {1,622} {7,755)
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Quadriplegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the vear ended 30th June 2013

Note 26 MNotes to the Staternent of Cash Flows (Continued)
&)  Notional cash fiows

Service appropriations as per Stalerent of Comprehensive income
Less notionat cash fiows:
Accrual appropriations

Cash Flows from Sfate Government as per Statement of Cash Flows

At the end of the reporting period, the Quadriplegic Centre Board had fully dvawn on all financing
faciifies, details of which arg disclosed in the financiat statements.

Note 27 Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers
Rernuneration of members of the Quadriplegic Centre Board
There were no foes, salaries or other benafits recelved or due and receivable for the financial
year by members of the Quadriplegic Centre Board and Senior Officers from the Quadriplegic
Cenire, Serior Officers are employed by the Paraplegic Cuadtiplegic Assoclation of WA (inc.).

Mote 28 Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable {o the Auditor General in respedt to the audit for the current financial
year is as foliows:

Auditing the accounts, financiat statements and performance indicators

Note 28 Commitments
At the reporting date the Quadripfegic Centre Board had no commitments.

Note 30 Contingent Hablilties and contingent assets

At the reporting date the Quadripiegic Centre Board was unaware of any contingent liabilities or
assets,

Note 31 Evenis occurring affer the reporting period

There were no events occuring after the reporting peried which had significant financial effects
on these financlal statements,

Note 32 Related hodies

A related body is a body which recelves more than haif #ts funding and resources from the
Guadripfegic Cenire Board and is subject to operationat control by the Quadriplegic Centre
Board,

The Quadriplegic Cenfre Board had no refated bodies during the financlal year.

Note 33 Affiliated bodles

An afffiated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and rescurces from the
Quadriplegic Centre Board and is not subject {0 operational confrol by the Quadriptegic Centre
Board.

The Quadriplegic Centre Board had no affiiated hodies duting the finandial year.

2013 2012
$000 $000
9,134 8,643
B34 8,543
18 16
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Quadriptegic Centre Board

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2013

Note 34 Explanatory Statement

(A) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual results

Sigrificant variations between actual results with the corresponding items of the preceding reporiing perod ars detailed balow.
Significant varatlons are those greater than 10% or that are 4% or more of the current year's Total Cost of Services.

Note

Expenses

Employee benefits expense

Fees for visiting medical practitioners

Patient stpport costs

Depraciation and amortisation expense

Repairs, maintenance and consumabie equipment

Other sxpenses {8

Income

Patjent charges

Interest revenue .

Other revenues (3]
Service sppropriations {c)

(a) QOtherexpenses

2013 2012 Vatiance
Actual Actual
$000 $000 $000
9,287 5,182 145
86 85 2
956 964 {8}
212 205 7
379 381 &3]
244 659 (415)
3,260 3,317 )
128 124 7
184 283 (319
5,134 8,543 591

{n 2042 Risk Cover made an adjustment to the 2008-09 workers compensation contribuion of the Quadriplegic Center, An
amount of $78000 was incurred defending an EQC claim, the cost being reimbursed by Risk Cover and included as Other

income.

(b} Ofherrevenues
As mantionad above an extra $78000 was received In 2008-08 from
defending an EOO claim,

{c} Service approprations

Risk Cover to reimburse the legal expense incurred in

Increase in accordance with Health Depariment hospitaf funding indexation.

{BY Significant variances between astimates and actual results for the financial year

Significant variations between the estimatas and actual resulfs for income
considered {0 be those greater than 10% of the budget estimates.

Nota

Operating expenses
Employae henefits expanse
Other goods and services
Total axpenses

Less: Revenues

Net cost of services

Qther avods and services

and expenses are shown below. Significant variations are

2043 2013
Actual Estimates Variance
$000 $008 $000
9,297 10,183 (896}
1877 2,308 {428}
11,174 12,498 {1,324}
{3,552) {3,365) {187)
7622 ) 9,133 {1,511}

Expenditure on Repairs and Maintenance, a variance of $88000, confinues fo be kept to essential requirements whilst the
owdcome of the proposal for redavelopraent of the Quadriplegic Centre is considered for budget allocation. Workers

contribution savings of $257000 against budget ware achieved,
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Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
QUADRIPLEGIC CENTRE BOARD

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Quadriplegic Centre Board.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 201 3, the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Board's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Treasurer's Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibifity

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the Board’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An audit also includes evaiuating the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Quadriplegic Centre Board at 30 June 2013 and
its financial performance and cash fiows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls
| have audited the controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board during the year ended

30 June 2013.

Controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board are those policies and procedures
established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance
with legislative provisions.

Board's Responsibility for Controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management
Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor's Responsibifity

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board based on my audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of
controis to ensure that the Board complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgement and include an evaluation of the design and
implementation of relevant controls.

i believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Quadriplegic Centre Board are sufficiently
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in
accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
| have audited the key performance indicators of the Quadriplegic Centre Board for the year
ended 30 June 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicafors

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s
instructions and for such controis as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian

Auditing and Assurance Standards.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the audifor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board's
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Quadriplegic Centre Board are relevant
and appropriate to assist users to assess the Board's performance and fairly represent
indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.

independence

in conducting this audit, | have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical
requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and
Key Performance Indicators

This auditor's report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the
Quadriplegic Centre Board for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the Board’s website.
The Board's management is responsible for the integrity of the Board’'s website. This audit
does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Board's website. The auditor's report refers
only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked toffrom these
financial statements or key performance indicators. if users of the financial statements and key
performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a
website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key
performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the
financial statements and key performance indicators.

DON CUNNINGHAME

ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL ASSURANCE SERVICES
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia

Perth, Western Australia

12 September 2013
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